
[page 11]
Choson Dynasty Royal Compounds –Windows to a Lost Culture

Peter Bartholomew

PREFACE

Major edifices of Korea’s Choson Dynasty period, their spatial relationships, architectural details, internal furnishings and their garden settings reveal a pattern of uniquely refined aesthetics, sensibility, and practicality. While some of the designs and layouts of Choson period structures do follow estab-lished forms and patterns, it is the extent to which pre-determined forms are not followed which reveals the independence of mind of architects, owners, and creators of structures, their contents, and surroundings.
Choson period palaces are of particular interest in that, contrary to common assumptions, they follow Chinese patterns of layout and design minimally and only up to certain points at which Korean aesthetic, practical, and local political expression takes over. The common dismissal of Korean palaces and the fine art surrounding and contained inside them as merely imitative of Chinese forms is both incorrect and uninformed. One might as well dismiss all British architecture of the 18th and 19th centuries as invalid because of its heavy borrowing from continental and classical Greco-Roman designs. Korean architecture, interior decoration, and gardening developed their own aesthetic styles uniquely different from those of Korea’s neighbours and are most worthy of investigation and further study.
While numerous publications exist with general descriptions of Seoul’s four remaining main palaces and others with specific details of these compounds, e.g., gardens,walls, architecture, furnishings, paintings, calligraphy, pottery and costumes, there are few publications which take an overview of the numerous compounds of the 14th to 19th centuries and describe their [page 12] functions as active operating centres of Choson Dynasty government and daily life: residential, political, bureaucratic, military, cultural, artistic, and academic.
While this paper does not delve deeply into each category of palace activity or the details of construction and the aesthetics of the Choson Dynasty royal compounds, it is hoped that the reader will gain a better understanding of the original purposes for and aesthetic intentions of the design and furnishing of the thousands of structures of Choson Dynasty royal government and how they relate to each other, and of the recent history leading to their present decimated forms or their total disappearance.
Equally important to an understanding of major Choson period structures is the constant evolution of individual structures and entire compounds, especially of the palaces in Seoul. Clearly, further study is needed to understand fully the extent to which the ceaseless development of buildings,gardens, entire compounds, and the interiors occurred as functions of the official and residential life in these compounds and was influenced by the requirements of Choson era politics, bureaucracy, cultural and artistic development, and the personalities of their royal residents.
It is particularly regrettable that so little remains of these centers of Choson Dynasty aristocratic life to permit in depth research, and that descriptions of the creative, dynamic life and culture of 500 years largely remain unwritten. It is also unforgivable that in certain publications describing Choson period arts, culture, and history, this subject is completely omitted or, if referred to, is treated with indifference and often totally dismissed as simply imitative of Chinese forms.	
I do not pretend to be a scholar of Korean history. architecture, art or culture but rather a student, and an amateur one at that. Having lived in Korea for more than 2b years, it remains to me a constant source of surprise and sadness how very little has been researched and written about these most obvious cultural exponents of the Choson Dynasty’s highest level of society. It furthermore remains unexplained why the Japanese authorities during their occupation of 1910-1945 engaged in purposeful destruction, or mutilation beyond recognition, of virtually every Choson period secular compound of signifi- cance on the Korean peninsula. 
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A CITY WITHIN A CITY 

SEOUL’S PALACE COMPOUNDS: FOR 500 YEARS ROYAL RESIDENCES AND CENTERS OF KOREAN CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT, POLITICAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIVITIES, AND SCHOLARLY PURSUITS

Seoul, the newly established 14th century capital of the Kingdom of Choson, was a walled city of impressive proportions, an imperfect circle approximately ten kilometers in diameter. The original city wall stretches from the top of Namsan on the south to the ridge of Pugaksan on the north, and from just beyond the current site of Citibank on Shinmunno on the west to the East Gate, Tongdaemun.
One should think of early 14th to 15th century Seoul as a new government center, its primary purpose to house and protect the central political and administrative activities of the new dynasty which had just seized power from the Koryo Kingdom in a coup d’etat and to serve as a propitious center from which the king, following the Chinese tradition, could auspiciously transmit the Will of Heaven from his position between Heaven and Earth.
The rest of Seoul first grew to provide goods and services to the new royal government and later developed its own private commercial, industrial, financial, and cultural life independent of the court and royal administrative offices. Concentration in Seoul of commercial, economic and political power continues to this day, as central government planning and tight regulation require businesses and aspiring politicians to keep close to the centers of power and administration.
By the mid-16th century the five major palace compounds in Seoul, with their intermediate detached palaces and services compounds, stretched almost unbroken for 20 kilometers, with large markets inside the East and South Gates and growing residential areas within the city walls.
The major palaces, Taegung, palaces having throne halls, with their adjoining detached service palaces were virtual cities within the city of Seoul. They housed all the functions necessary to daily life: food preparation, textile design and tailoring, herbal medicine and acupuncture, wood, stone, mud, clay, plaster, metal, paper, leather, and precious metal crafts for palace repair and interior decoration, and entertainment.
Facilities supporting the aesthetic needs of the palace were also permanently installed. The principal palace had its own kilns and resident potters for making the finest ceramics and pottery for use in the palace itself. There were endless rooms for servants as well as for artists and artisans. It was essential that there be suites of rooms for the skilled calligraphers and painters [page 14]
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1890s: View of Kyongbok Palace (left side)
and central government office area 
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1890s: Just inside Kwanghwamun (gate) of
Kyongbok palace (1st Courtyard) — Royal Choson Army being
drilled by Tsarist Russian military officers. 
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in residence as well as for musicians, visiting scholars and, of course, the endless stream of guests and officials needing to spend the night. Korean kings worked at night and slept in the mornings and were well known for calling whomever they wished at any hour of the day or night, and then making the supplicant wait hours for the audience. He did not usually wait in discomfort,  being given a most adequate room for waiting, with food, drink, and bedding provided in case the waiting period extended too long.
Each major palace function was housed in its own suite of rooms, in its own walled compound, the layout of which was designed to fulfill the functional and aesthetic needs of the residents. The main activities of each compound and the highest-ranking personage engaged therein were housed in a large building at the north end of the square compound. Normally the compound was formed by low buildings rather than walls, and in these were storage rooms and workshops, where apprentices, clerks, personal servants, libraries, and the accoutrements of any activities serving the main functions of the category of activity of the compound could be found. This form was followed more rigidly for purely administrative and service compounds and less rigidly for residential compounds.
Superficially the Korean palaces, since they were formed of many square compounds, would appear to conform to the Chinese pattern of perfectly sym-metrical squares. However, the spatial relations of compound to compound and of the buildings within them are rarely symmetrical. They are not necessarily aligned in perfect relation with their neighboring compounds, nor are the buildings within compounds in perfect symmetry. The uniqueness of the Korean compounds is that their design and juxtaposition to each other is intended to create pleasing effects with hills, gardens, and adjoining buildings. It is the Korean independence of mind and aesthetic feelings which take precedence over pre-determined forms derived from the Chinese.
Symmetry of form is followed to the greatest extent in Kyongbok Palace,  and even there only as far as the royal family’s main residential suites. Beyond these compounds, the courtyards grew in response to functional and aesthetic requirements, sometimes symmetrically aligned but more often not. The working-level administrative compounds were not usually designed with aesthetics in mind but rather to serve practical administrative needs.
For every official activity of the king and his immediate family,however minor, there were ceremonial forms to follow. Court servants, guards, courtiers, and officials were placed in predetermined positions, their every movement precisely choreographed. For the more important functions, palace activities were performed to the accompaniment of music and ceremonial [page 16] dancing. Music and dance were used extensively for palace entertainment as well. Clearly, architectural and spatial infrastructure were required to support such functions.
To illustrate the palace architectural layout serving residential and official functional needs, let us look at the palace musicians. The constant presence of music and dance in the palace to fill official and entertainment needs necessitated large housing facilities for musicians, dancers, assistants, and apprentices, as well as for servants caring for the personal needs of performers and the maintenance of their instruments, clotnmg, and the buildings in which they resided, practiced, and taught. Again this required more courtyards with suitable buildings, each designed and spatially kicated to best serve each function of the musicians at court.

A NOTE ON COURT MUSICIANS:

A few of the major ceremonies of the court, especially the official audiences which took place in the throne hall and courtyard, are well recorded with diagrams for every participant’s position and activity. The present National Classical Music Institute, direct descendant of the court musicians and dancers, and all that remains of the living palaces, maintains the traditions and written record of some of these ceremonial musical works and dances.
It is only due to the intervention of Princess Masako, Yi Bang-Ja,  that the court musicians and dancers were not disbanded by Japanese occupation authorities and their traditions lost completely. The princess kept them together by establishing the Prince Yi Conservatory of Music specifically to preserve their traditions after their expulsion from the palace under the Japanese occupation.
The name was changed under President Rhee Syngman to the National Classical Music Institute, which today has excellent, spacious new facilities at the Seoul Performing Arts Centre.
In addition to the elaborately choreographed and musically scored major ceremonies, there were countless ceremonial customs, traditions, and chore-ographed activities in the daily life and the minor official and family activities of the King and immediate members of the royal family. Most of these were lost when Japanese authorities ordered all traditional Korean court music and other fine arts activities in the palaces to cease.
In the 19th Century, there were over 150 internal courtyards with more than 450 buildings in Kyongbok palace, each of which served specific, func- [page 17] tional purposes. (See the layout drawing of Kyongbok Palace later in this article.) The central courtyards were the locus of official royal activities of the king and higher officials: the throne hall, the privy chambers and the royal residential suites. Courtyards to the east and west sides were primarily administrative and for services necessary for the official and residential functions of the royal family, high officials and administrators.
The northern-most compounds in Kyongbok were the most purely aesthetic in architectural design, spatial relationships and landscaping. These comprised the pleasure houses, libraries, lotus ponds and pavilions used by the royal family, invited officials and guests of state.
Kyongbok Palace follows the most structured and symmetrical pattern of the five main palaces in Seoul. The next most structured palace was Ch’anggyong Palace, although much smaller in scale and with courtyards more scattered.
The life of these palace cities within the greater city of Seoul totally dis-appeared with the destruction of the buildings themselves. This dismantling of Korea’s epicenter of cultural and political life began in the Taehan Empire period (1890s-1910),with Japanese prohibitions put on traditional palace customs, daily protocol and cultural activities, and continued with massive demolition of palace buildings and the removal of all furnishings and valuables by the Japanese authorities in the 1920s and 1930s.
One of the most significant events of early Japanese influence on the disappearance of traditional Choson Dynasty palace performing arts, court dress, and practices is recorded by Mr. FA. McKenzie (1869-1931,Seoul correspondent for the London Daily Mail in 1904 and 1906-7) in his book The Tragedy of Korea, published in 1908. This passage describes both the traditional palace customs surrounding a coronation ceremony and their abolition by the Japanese military occupying Korea just before annexation during the Taehan Empire period. Mr. McKenzie attended the 1907 coronation of King Sunjong in Ch’ang-dok Palace and described it in his chapter entitled, “Crowning of the Puppet Emperor:”

The Imperial Hair-cutter was in attendance. A group of old court officials...implored him not to abandon the old ways (of retaining his topknot, which the Japanese insisted be removed from every male Korean head as a part of their intent to destroy all Korean identity). The Emperor (Sunjong) paused...but there could be no hesitating now. Resolute men (the Japanese) were behind (in the throne hall) who knew what they were going to see done. In a few minutes the great step was taken. [page 18]
There were nearly a hundred Japanese present... only six Europeans.
The new Emperor appeared... dressed in the ancient custom, a flowing blue garment reaching to the ankles with a robe of softer cream colour underneath.... On his chest was a small decorative breastplate (symbol of the Emperor). Weird (traditional court) Korean music started in the background, the beating of drums and the playing of...wind instruments. The master of ceremonies struck up a chant which hidden choristers continued. In smart modern (European-style) attire,the Prime Minister read a paper of welcome.
After this there was a pause in the proceedings. The Emperor retired and all the guests went into the anterooms. Soon all were recalled. There had been a change in the meantime. He (Emperor Sunjong) was now wearing his new modern uniform as Generalissimo of the Korean Army. Two high decorations—one from the Emperor of Japan—hung on his breast. The music now was no longer the ancient Korean, but modern airs from the very fine European-trained band attached to the palace. The Korean players had gone, with the old dress and the old life, into limbo.
The acting Japanese Resident General and military commander,General Baron Hasegawa...stepped to the front with a message of welcome from the Emperor.. .then the coronation ceremony was over.
Traditional palace customs for 500 years of the Choson Dynasty were elaborately defined for even the most mundane movements of the king and queen. Every excursion of their majesties from their personal chambers was accompanied by strict protocol. Unfortunately, little has been written about the details of these daily customs.
One brief description of minor customs accompanying the movement of the queen is given in Corea by A. Henry Savage-Landor, published in 1895. Mr. Savage-Landor had been invited to dinner by the King and was asked to paint a particularly lovely garden of Kyongbok Palace. While painting, the queen’s curiosity overcame her discretion and she ventured out of her room for a peek at Mr. Savage-Landor’s progress, to the great consternation of palace servants, guards, and eunuchs. To quote Mr. Savage-Landor:
I knew what was coming (meaning a surprise appearance of the Queen), and tried to screen the sketch with my body so as to compel the observer (Queen) to lean well out of the window (of the Queen’s chambers) if she wished to see it. A little way off were hundreds of soldiers, walking or squatting on the ground, and on the wall of the King’s house and smaller trees the fat and repulsive eunuchs had perched themselves [page 19] in order to watch the foreigner’s doings. All of a sudden there was a piercing squeak and a quick change of scene. Every one standing fell flat on his chest, the soldiers to a man hid their faces in their hands on the ground and the clumsy eunuchs dropped down pell-mell from their perches, like over-ripe fruit coming off the branch of a tree, and disappeared behind the wall Then, for a moment, all was silence; then there followed another shriek. It was evidently a command to stand still until further notice.—(Later, after the queen’s door had closed) By the sound of a shrill whistle the men who had been lying “dead" rose and fled.
Mr. Savage-Landor’s palace guide later explained that two shrieks and a whistle were the signal that the doors of the queen’s chambers were opening, and that Her Majesty might venture forth; it was forbidden for any commoner to look upon the person of the Queen.
Each major palace maintained a library containing court official and cer-emonial records, family records, literature, political writings, history, and other documents. The libraries were often moved around within the palaces and from one palace to another. The largest palace library, the Kyujonggak, is now in Seoul National University in Kwanak, where it is well maintained, although regrettably its contents have not been catalogued or researched. Most other palace collections have been lost since the 1910 Japanese annexation and the turmoil of the Korean War in the 1950s. Collections from Korean palace libraries exist in Japan, the United States and Europe.
In 1398 King T’aejo established a Confucian College in Seoul, the Song- gyungwan, still in existence today under the same name. The Songgyungwan buildings are located at the easternmost end of the palace compounds adjoining the Secret Gardens at the back of Ch’angdok and Ch’anggyong Palaces. Entry into the higher ranks of government service was possible only by passing the high civil service examinations, open only to graduates from the Songgyungwan. The existing wooden structures set on granite foundations,  dating from around 1605 (rebuilt after the Hideyoshi Invasions of 1592),are the best preserved examples of Choson Dynasty architecture, courtyards and gardens in Seoul.
  For students outside of Seoul, the lower civil examinations were open to graduates from the hyanggyo, or secondary schools established in each district countrywide under the academic guidance of the Songgyungwan, but under administrative control of the Yejo (Department of Diplomacy and Education). While these institutions served practical educational purposes, the structures were also often used by visitors, who would discuss politics, social morals and ethics, literature, and history with the local teachers and scholars. [page 20]
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The same sorts of discussions and exchanges of ideas took place in the pavilions which proliferated throughout the countryside beside rivers, on hilltops, and in other particularly beautiful and auspicious locations.
Many of these visitors and local scholars had served terms at court or perhaps even spent time at the Songgyungwan in Seoul. There was a constant exchange of ideas (and most certainly conflicts of various schools of thought) on the premises of the many institutions and structures throughout Korea, such as:	

In Seoul: Palaces
Educational Institutions—Songgyungwan, and secondary schools (haktang)
Scholarly and academic associations or clubs (hakhoe) Pavilions
Large homes of the elite — yangban and government offi- cials’ homes
Outside of Seoul: Administrative Centres (haengjongch ‘ong)
Secondary Schools (hyanggyo) Pavilions
Homes of the elite—yangban homes
Scholarly activities in the palaces were intertwined with political policy-making, as advisors to the king were often renowned scholars, poets, and writers of their time. The synergy between activities in the many places listed above is important in understanding the activities and purposes of many of the buildings of Choson-Dynasty Korea, ,and the dynamism, development, and creativ- ity of fine arts and culture of the period.
Yi Yulgok (born Yi I,1536-1584) is a primary example of such scholars. Yulgok served for various periods in the court in Seoul as political advisor to the king, lived in several provincial towns where he wrote poetry as well as political, historical, and socio-ethical theses, and was well known for his interaction with virtually all classes of Korean society. Several pavilions and private homes in the Kangnung area, for example, post notices that “Yi Yul-gok once meditated and discussed his ideas here.”
Of equal importance are the less known artists, musicians, poets, callig- raphers, and artisans as well as organized professional theatrical groups, dancers, acrobatic groups, and artisans who roamed the country offering their creative services to anyone willing to compensate them. These creative members of Choson period society moved between the places listed above, thereby[page 23] furthering the exchange of ideas and development of Choson period art forms across a broad spectrum of institutions, localities and social classes.

GROWTH AND CHANGE OF ROYAL COMPOUNDS AND STATUS TO PRESENT DAY

The site of Hanyang, later called Seoul, was chosen as the capital of the new Choson Dynasty in 1392 in large part for the military advantages of natural mountain protection along the ridges of which were built the city walls and fortifications, as well as for their geomantical propitiousness.
Before selection of the new capital there was already in existence in Hanyang a country palace built by the Koryo Government, the current Ch’anggyong Palace. Yi T’aejo, founder and first king of the Choson Dynasty, lived in and ruled from this palace for two years until his main administrative center, Kyongbok Palace, could be built. Ch’anggyong Palace faces east, as was the custom during the Koryo Dynasty, when it was originally constructed.
All Choson Dynasty palaces were built facing south with the exception of the main gate of Kyonghui Palace on the north side of the city and were the epicenter the country’s and the new city’s life. Most aspects of Seoul’s development for the next 500 years were ultimately related to serving the administrative, political, residential, cultural and religious functions of the palace compounds, and to accommodating their ceaseless evolution. King T’aejo first ordered three structures to be built: Kyongbok Palace, an ancestral shrine, the Chongmyo, to the “left” (east) of Kyongbok, an altar for spring and fall offerings to the “right” (west),the Sajik Tan.
After the construction of Kyongbok Palace, the principal royal residential palace compounds grew not as much according to any long term central plan or overall architectural master design as to serve specific requirements of successive governments as they presented themselves. These needs dictated expansions, contractions, modifications, and even abandonments of royal compounds for a complex history of reasons, for example:
 -Buildings and internal subcompounds were added inside larger com-pounds to serve expansions of government departments and the addition of special administrative, cultural, and residential functions.
- During times of external threat and internal court intrigue the heightened need to protect the king and his court caused the addition of larger palace guard facilities,the construction of more internal walls,and [page 24] the addition of numerous small gates for the discrete escape of the king when all else had failed!
- To serve the whims of kings and their families for residential and aesthetic improvements,buildings were improved and added to and gardens newly constructed or modified.
- Entire new palace compounds were built by order of kings either to favour a particular son or grandson or to remove a particularly bothersome son, brother, or dowager from political meddling at the center of the court and mollify him or with her a newly constructed or modified palace compound.
- It was believed by geomancers and other court advisors that certain palaces were under evil influence because of their position in relation to neighboring mountains and hills and,even worse,that they would have an unlucky influence upon the entire country if used for royal residential purposes. As a result of such advice,certain palaces were abandoned or given over to other more utilitarian purposes.
- Any suspicion of evil or bad luck impinging upon the dignity and aus- piciousness of the king’s center of power could not be tolerated,as the Korean king applied the same principle of ruling by Mandate of Heaven as his “older brother," the Chinese emperor, did. The respect expected of the king’s subjects clearly could not be touched by the slightest suspicion of geomantical or other evil influences emanating from him or his palace. The Taegung,therefore,must be understood symbolically as sites of the king’s auspicious power and authority as well as physically,housing the royal family and the government.
When the original reason for construction of a royal compound disappeared, the compound was either converted to another use or left unoccupied by royal personages,often for many years,while it awaited a new function for re-acti- vation,generally within the categories listed above. During this waiting period only minimal guard and maintenance personnel resided in the compound. Some palaces were allowed to fall into a state of total disrepair, as in case of Kyonghui Palace in the 19th century and Kyongbok Palace,which remained in ruins for 260 years after the Hideyoshi Invasions of 1592; both of these palaces were deemed to be under evil geomantical influences.
The following examples are further illustrations.

Toksu Palace:
Toksu Palace was built originally in the 1440s as a residence for Prince [page 25] Wolson, grandson of King Sejo (reigned 1455-1468). Toksu Palace served as principal residence for Choson Dynasty kings on two occasions: once in 1593 by King Sonjo after the Hideyoshi Invasions had destroyed all other residential palace buildings in Seoul,and again by King Kojong from 1897 until his death there in 1919 during the tumultuous period following the murder of Queen Min in Kyongbok Palace by assassins hired by the Japanese Embassy. When not occupied by a king,Toksu Palace fell into disuse and was minimally maintained.

Ch’angdok Palace:
Ch’angdok Palace was originally built in 1394 on a small scale with a minor throne hall and was used as a detached pleasure palace until the Hideyoshi Invasions when it was completely destroyed. Since it was decided not to rebuild Kyongbok Palace as the principal royal residence,Ch’ angdok Palace was rebuilt in 1609 as the principal royal residence with a major dou- ble-roofed throne hall and used for this purpose for the next 260 years, until 1867 when King Kojong movea into the newly constructed Kyongbok Palace. During the 18th century, both Ch’angdok and Ch’anggyong Palaces were greatly expanded with many added compounds.
From 1867 when the royal family and entire central court moved back to Kyongbok Palace until the 1890s, Ch’ angdok reverted to its original detached palace function and was rarely used. During the Taehan Empire period (1897- 1910) under strong Japanese influence, Ch’angdok Palace was again restored as a principal royal residence, first for King Kojong who moved between Toksu and Ch’angdok, and after 1907 for King Sunjong who resided there as puppet Emperor under Japanese control until his death in 1926.
By order of the Japanese occupation government in 1919 the personal royal residential chambers of Kyongbok Palace were moved to Ch’ angdok to house King Sunjong, and the Japanese occupation authorities carried out the demolition of over 85% of all buildings in Kyongbok Palace. The original Changdok residential buildings had been destroyed by fire in 1918.
During the entire Japanese occupation period until 1945,the remaining members of the royal family lived in Naksonje in the Ch’angdok Palace grounds except for Prince Yi Eun and his Japanese wife, Masako (Yi Bang- Ja), who lived primarily in a small palace residence in Tokyo and visited Korea only rarely.
In 1945, the remaining members of the Korean royal family were forcibly expelled from Ch’angdok Palace by the U.S. Army occupation forces [page 26] which seized control of all Korean royal properties and those registered in Japanese names. The Korean royal family was seen as a non-direct line of the Japanese Imperial family and thereby subject to reduction in status to commoner and loss of all privileges. Crown Prince Yi Eun with his wife Masako were forbidden by the Americans to return to Korea. This condition continued through the Syngman Rhee period,1948-1960.
In 1961,President Park Chung Hee permitted members of the Yi royal family to move into Naksonje at Ch’angdok Palace. Naksonje had been built originally as a dower house complex for retired royalty and thus continued its original function. Crown Prince Yi Eun and Masako returned to Korea from Japan and occupied the principal suites of Naksonje with a small retinue of palace servants. Ch’angdok served as a residence for these last remaining members of the Yi royal family until their deaths in the palace: Queen Yun, wife of Sunjong, who died in 1966; Yi Eun, second son of Kojong,who died in 1970; Princess Tokhye, daughter of Kojong, who died in 1989; Yi Bang-Ja,  the Japanese wife of Yi Eun, who died in 1989; as well as the son of Yi Eun and Yi Bang-ja,Yi Ku, and his American wife, Julia, who moved out of the palace in 1984,
During their residence at Naksonje, the only official royal functions per-formed were participation in the yearly ancestor memorial ceremonies at the ancestral shrines at Chong-Myo and at royal tombs and in funerals of other members of the royal family.
Today the palace buildings and one half of the Secret Gardens are open to the public with the remaining gardens under the control of the Korean Army,Seoul Garrison Command. Naksonje is now abandoned and closed to the public; its buildings and gardens, along with those of Unhyon Palace, are perhaps the best preserved examples of royal residences in Korea.

Andong Detached Palace:

The Andong Detached Palace in Anguk-dong is a good example of a royal whim. It was built in the late 1880s for a reclusive prince and used by his family through the Japanese period until the property was taken over to build the P’ungmun Girls’ School, the entrance of which is on the Anguk Rotary behind the Girl Scouts Building. The two primary, residential buildings were destroyed in the 1960s to make way for the school’s new playground.
Of the Andong Detached Palace, four buildings remain standing today: one royal residential structure at the back of the school and three servant [page 27]
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buildings in the neighborhood to the north of the school. Approximately one- half of the original palace wall and one small gate on the west side are also still standing.

Kyonghui Palace:

Kyonghui Palace, originally built in 1616 by order of King Kwanghae as Kyongdok Palace,changed its name in 1760 to Kyonghui. It was always suspected of being under evil influences from Inwangsan and was also believed to be haunted. Palace ladies who used Kyonghui Palace in the 19th century for sericulture rarely stayed after dark.
Kyonghui Palace was first left to fall into total disrepair, later repaired and expanded, again abandoned, cannibalized for reconstruction of Kyongbok Palace in the 1860s, partly restored in the 1880s, and again left in semi-ruins. During the late 19th century foreign visitors to Kyonghui Palace reported that it was occupied only by elderly palace eunuchs and that most buildings were falling down. It was finally taken down by the Japanese in the 1920s to build a high school,later to become Seoul Boys’ High School on Chongro 2-ka. The Japanese moved its main gate to their new Shinto shrine on Namsan. The throne hall was moved to Tongguk University where it serves as a Buddhist temple building.
The Seoul City Government is now building reproductions of the Kyonghui Palace throne hall and courtyard gate and has restored the main gate, although not at its original location.
Each of the five major palaces, with the exception of Ch’ angdok Palace,  follows the Chinese pattern of symmetrical squares leading in from the main gate up to the courtyard of the throne hall itself. Each square consists of a gate at the south side connected to long, low buildings forming the square courtyard. At the north end of the courtyard is the gate leading to the next courtyard. The throne hall is placed at the north end of the throne ball courtyard.
The first courtyard inside the main gate of most palaces was used by the Palace Guard. In Kyongbok and Ch’ anggyong Palaces, there was a second courtyard inside the main gate and before the throne hail which was used by servants and for preparations for official events to take place in the throne hall courtyard. The courtyard behind the throne hall of Kyongbok Palace was occupied by the privy chambers of the King’s cabinet. The square behind the privy chambers should house the personal residence of the king, but this pattern is followed only in Kyongbok Palace. [page 29]
The Chinese pattern for palaces,excluding pleasure or summer palaces, follows the pattern of perfect squares symmetrically placed precisely one behind the other as described above throughout virtually all of the imperial compounds. In Korean palace design, however, this pattern is only followed from the entrance gate to the throne hall. Only in the case of Kyongbok Palace and to a lesser extent Ch’anggyong Palace did this pattern extend beyond, and even in these two palaces, the squares are not perfectly symmetrical after the throne hall and at Kyongbok after the privy chamber court and royal-residences. There was little attempt to place the buildings in the precisely correct positions according to Chinese patterns. The symmetrical-squares pattern is followed even less in palaces with no throne hall.
The placement of Korean palace residential structures tended to follow the advice of geomancers and architects and the aesthetic feelings of the owner,rather than established patterns prescribed by traditional Chinese forms. Only for those official buildings symbolizing the king’s position of transmitting the Will of Heaven is the Chinese pattern invariably adhered to, that is,in the throne hall and main gate courtyards.
It is most interesting to note that there was no attempt to force Ch’ang-dok Palace into a more Chinese-like symmetry when it was converted to a main royal residence in the early 1600s. The Tonhwamun, the main gate, stands far to the west of the throne hall with no perfectly placed symmetrical courtyard in front of it. The royal residences stand to the east of the throne hall and none of their courtyards was originally placed symmetrically behind another.
Indeed, Ch’angdok is an excellent example of Choson Dynasty aesthetics. It uses Korea’s ever present hills for its landscaping of the Secret Gardens,as well as to set off and stage the buildings. For example,the throne hall itself was placed with its back to a long hill which was faced with terrace gardens topped with large pine, oak, and elm trees. The terraces were planted with low bushes,bamboo and artfully placed kwi sok,natural rocks with beautiful shapes.
The throne hall courtyard originally was enclosed by low buildings on three sides only, south, east and west, so that the full sweep of the terrace gardens and trees could be seen framing the magnificent Injongjon, the throne hall, with its long sweeping double-tiered roof. In the 1890s during the Tae- han Empire period, Japanese advisers recommended modernization and expansion of Ch’angdok Palace which included completely closing off the courtyard, thereby blocking its refined aesthetic effect. The natural harmony of the Injongjon with its frame of terrace garden, natural forest and hill was [page 30]
lost for nearly 100 years. The throne hall courtyard of Ch’angdok Palace is now undergoing restoration to its pre-Taehan Empire form.
Throughout all Korean palaces the same pattern of residential structures forming a harmony with nature is to be seen. Mirroring Korea’s hilly topography, gardens adjoining structures invariably are in terrace form at the back and along the sides of the buildings. Residential buildings themselves often have raised pavilion wings jutting out from the main structures, often nestling into the terrace gardens for use on warm days. Their design was purely intended for the pleasure, aesthetic beauty and comfort they brought to their residents and visitors.
There were at the northern end of most major palaces in Seoul expansive parklike gardens. Today we know only of the Secret Gardens of Ch’angdok. The original gardens of Kyongbok Palace, formerly at the north end of the palace are now occupied by the Blue House compound These gardens were destroyed by the Japanese occupation government during the 1920s to build the official residence for their Governor General, which later became the home for presidents of the Republic of Korea. The original Japanese-built Blue House was demolished in December 1993. There are no known photographs of the gardens of Kyongbok Palace and only passing reference is made to their existence in records of visitors to Kyongbok during the late 19th century.
As mentioned above, the Japanese authorities destroyed 85% of Kyong- bok Palace, over 300 buildings, including its front (south) wall and the main gate, Kwanghwamun. The Kwanghwamun was rebuilt in concrete and replaced on its original site in 1970 but at an incorrectly low elevation, with improper roof curves and too low a roof ridge; the current Kwanghwamun has lost the graceful power and dignity originally intended by its Choson period designers. The Choson Dynasty period architectural aesthetic was of sweeping but understated grandeur. This was magnificently conveyed in Kyongbok Palace by the original vista of its front wall, gate and two corner watch towers (the East and West Sipchagak) which formed a "crane" shape: the Kwang- hwamun (main gate) being the body,the walls the wings,and the two watch towers the raised wing tips.
In Korean palaces, only the throne hall itself was intended to awe the observer, and this was not an aesthetic but a political choice; it stood as a cosmic symbol of the king’s mediating function—between Heaven and Earth. The Korean Government authorities announced in August, 1993 a plan to restore most of Kyongbok Palace and already have begun reconstruction of the royal family’s residences. The Japanese-built Capitol Building, now the [page 31] 

Map 1. Kyongbok Palace
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Note: The 35 buildings listed above are selected major structures, not a comprehensive listing of buildings in the palace. Buildings described as “house,” “palace” or “hall” actually comprise o or more courtyards of numerous separate structures. [page 32]
National Museum, is due for demolition later this year. This will be a most significant and welcome addition to what little remains of Seoul’s traditional architectural remains.
The original gardens of Toksu Palace are now the site of the American Ambassador’s residence and the Russian Legation. The gardens of Kyonghui Palace extended both to the north and east of the newly reconstructed throne hall. The gardens of the Ch’anggyong Palace to the north of the present buildings remain as a public park, but their original form was lost after the Japanese authorities converted the palace into a zoo and amusement park during the 1930s,demolishing all but five of the original palace buildings and completely destroying all parks and gardens. Parts of Ch’anggyong Palace have recently been reconstructed.
The major palaces’ large grounds were usually divided into two specific areas: smaller garden compounds walled off for use exclusively by the royal family, and park-like gardens serving broader palace purposes. Today this can be seen only in Ch’angdok Palace where a wall separates the section of the Secret Gardens immediately to the north of the royal family’s personal living compound; there were several lovely pavilions in this compound, only one of which is still standing. The remaining gardens are well known to anyone who has been willing to buy a ticket to see them, except for the northern half which remains closed to the public as it is occupied by the Seoul Garrison Command of the Korean Army. Regrettably, the original aesthetic effect of coziness and intimacy of the Secret Gardens has been disturbed by an asphalt road built in the 1970s by the Park Chung-hee Government.
Outside of the core palace areas of the throne hall and royal residences there were hundreds of rooms and a virtual maze of courtyards and canyonlike walkways between the courtyards, when it was not suitable for a courtyard to lead directly into the neighboring square. These countless sub-compounds served the many functions of palace life already described.

MAP OF CHOSON DYNASTY SEOUL:	
A MAP OF 20 KILOMETERS OF THE CONTIGUOUS CHOSON GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL BUILDINGS FROM SOUTH GATE TO EAST GATE

Seoul appears on old maps to be an imperfectly circular walled city, the 20-kilometer-long stretch of palaces forming a crescent shape open to the south and nestled into the foothills of Inwangsan and Pugaksan.
Following Map #1 you can trace the entire “C” through the compounds
Choson Dynasty Royal Compounds / 33
listed below beginning at the southwestern end just inside South Gate and ending just inside Tongso-Mun, Little East Gate in the eastern-most city wall at Taehangno (Seoul National University Hospital),,near the East Gate.
For those readers with an interest in seeing what remains of Seoul’s royal architectural history, this description and accompanying map can be used as a walking tour.
Note that the five palaces which have throne halls are referred to as Tae- gung (major palaces). The remaining compounds in central Seoul are properly referred to as pyolgung, or detached palaces.
1. Toksu palace, detached and main; throne hall and T’aep’yong-gwan
Just inside South Gate, fronting on City Hall Plaza and extending back to the Citibank Building on Sinmunno, Toksu formerly encompassed the property of the current U.S. Ambassador’s residence and Embassy Compound #1,the British Embassy compound,and the Tsarist Russian Embassy compound. The detached palace of Toksu stood where the current Japanese-built Supreme Court building now stands. The T’aep’yong- gwan stood just behind the current headquarters of the Samsung Group and the Korea Chamber of Commerce Building. It served as a state guest house and meeting and entertainment hall for visiting emissaries from the Chinese Imperial Court. The current T’aep’ yongno street and dong take their names from this long-gone 18th century compound. (See #14 & 15 below.)
2. Kyonghui Palace, (throne hall)
Its entrance gate is across from Citibank on Sinmunno. There is a break in the flow of palaces from the back of Kyonghui Palace to Sajik Park and Kyongbok Palace.
3. Minor compounds in Hyoja-dong
Several small royal compounds existed across from the west wall of Kyongbok Palace, but little is known of their history and nothing remains today.
4. Kyongbok Palace (throne hall)
The main administrative palace behind the Kwangwhamun Gate and the National Museum.
5. Ch’ilgung
Located at the northwest corner of Kyongbok Palace adjoining the west wall of the Blue House. Ch’ilgung is not actually a palace; it is a com-pound with five shrines housing the ancestral tablets of seven royal concubines whose sons became kings. In front of the shrines is a particularly [page 34] beautiful residential compound where the caretaker, always a royal family member, lived. The kst royal family caretaker-resident of Ch’ilgung, Lee Su-Kil, was evicted in the mid 1980s by the Korean Government for security reasons due to the compound’s close proximity to the Blue House. He died a short time later and is survived by two sons still living in Seoul, Lee Sok and Lee June. The compound also contains beautiful traditional Korean gardens, a small pavilion and a small lotus pond.
6. The area between Kyongbok Palace and Ch’angdok Palace was occupied by three categories of structures. This is the second area where a break occurs between palaces.
6.1. The following four official royal compounds:
The Chongch’inbu, Office of the Royal Household, was across the street from the east wall of Kyongbok Palace, and is now occupied by the Defence Security Command and U.S. Embassy Compound #2. Most official and personal needs of the royal family were attended to in this compound: fixing of menus and food preparation, clothing design and tailoring, agenda planning and arrangements for every function great and minor, official and personal. All buildings in this compound except the two main structures were destroyed by the Japanese authorities in the 1930s for construction of houses for wealthy Japanese business people living in Seoul. The principal two buildings of the Chongch’inbu remained at their original location until 1983 when they were disassembled and removed to an abandoned school playground about 500 meters behind the original site on the orders of the Chun Doo-Hwan Government. Songhyon Palace is in Songhyon-dong. It is a small residential palace built for a distant relation of the royal family by marriage and no longer exists.
Andong Pyolgung was a detached palace on the site of Poongmun Girl’s High School on the Anguk-dong Rotary. Four minor buildings remain, one on the school campus and three in the residential neighbourhood to the north of the school.
The Astronomical Observatory was on the present site of Hyundai headquarters. The exact position of stars and the moon were deter-mined here for the purpose of advising the palace of calendar events and augering future events by analyzing the positions of the heavenly bodies.	
6.2. The home of former President Yun Po-Sun remains as the only example in Seoul of large residential compounds of the Choson Dynasty elite.
6.3. A very few private homes, mostly of government employees working [page 35]
in the palace compounds and people serving them as merchants, shop owners, artisans, and laborers, remain today.
7. Unhyon Palace
The front one third,the south side of the palace property, is occupied by Duksung Women’s University,the back one fourth by a health center across from Hyundai headquarters, but the center residential portion is intact,having been occupied by a relative of the Taewongun until December 1992. This was the official residence of the Taewongun, regent for King Kojong from 1863 to 1873. The residential buildings are totally intact and are among the best examples of lesser royal residences still remaining in Korea. Since Mme. Park, a descendant of the Taewongun, moved out of the palace in December 1992, the Seoul City Government has begun restoration work on these residential structures. It is hoped that they will scrupulously preserve this beautiful example of royal Choson residences, as it is unique in design and remarkably well preserved in its interior as well as exterior.
8. Ch’angdok Palace (throne hall). This is the well known Secret Gardens. A detailed description of the palace’s history has already been given.
9. Sonwonjon, the Royal Portrait Hall, is a separate compound adjoining the Secret Gardens at the northwest corner of Ch’angdok Palace. The Son- wonjon was a shrine for the portraits of all kings of the Choson dynasty. The portraits were all destroyed in Pusan where they had been taken for safe keeping during the Korean War. While the main portrait hall is a long, low, typical ceremonial building with niches for each portrait,the residential and ceremonial preparation halls are examples of very fine, graceful Korean architecture. There are also several beautifully designed pavilions in the typical Choson period gardens. These buildings were in perfect condition, untouched since their last restoration in 1918, until the main buildings were inexplicably moved within the compound to new elevations in 1986-1987 following the takeover of most of the Secret Gardens by the Korean Army. Area residents report major earth-moving activities on the site during the buildings’ destruction and reconstruction; no reason has ever been given for these activities. The compound today remains closed to all visitors.
10. Ch’anggyong Palace (throne hall) extended from the east wall of Ch’ang- dok Palace to the Seoul National University Hospital.
11. Kyongmo Palace, a detached Palace of Ch’anggyong Palace, was on the present site of Seoul National University Hospital and Medical College with the east wall on the present Taehangno. The easternmost part of the city wall is only a few meters to the west of this compound. One internal [page 36] gate is still standing just to the north of the Seoul National University Hospital. No history of this palace has yet been found.
12. Songgyungwan University and Confucian Shrine are at the northeast corner of the Secret Gardens and Ch’anggyong Palace. Founded in 1398, Songgyungwan is one of the oldest universities in the world. The present buildings date from the very early 1600s and are among the best and most accurately preserved of any major traditional buildings in the country. Songgyungwan was the center of all higher learning during 500 years of the dynasty; all government officials had to pass the examination of the university. There is a gate from the university to the back of Ch’angdok through which students passed to take their civil service examinations in front of court officials and finally the king himself. The nationwide system of Confucian academies, hyanggyo, so won and haktang, was also controlled from Songgyungwan with practical administration by the Yejo.
13. Chongmyo, the Royal Ancestral Shrine, has its main gate at Chongno 4-ga at the end of the large underground car park. Its rear borders on Ch’ang- gyong Palace. There are two shrines,the upper and the lower,in each of which the ancestral tablets of each King of the Choson Dynasty are maintained. A royal ceremony is still held every year on the first Sunday of May sponsored by the Yi Royal Family Association. This and the ceremonies at the royal tombs are the only activities the remaining royal family members still observe.
To complete the map of Choson Dynasty royal compounds in Seoul, there are numerous smaller compounds outside of the crescent pattern created by the already described twelve compounds. The most significant of these are described next.
14. Sajik Tan (altar)
There are two altars, one for the God of the Earth and another for the God of the Harvest just inside Sajik Park on the north side of the street, at the base of Inwangsan. The king offered sacrifices here in the spring and fall on behalf of the country,again in his position between heaven and earth, following the Chinese tradition associated with the famous Temple of Heaven in Beijing. During the Taehan Empire period (1897 to 1910) this function was moved to the converted site of Nambyolgung.
15. Nambyolgung (detached palace)
This was located on the site of the current Chosun Hotel. The Nam-byolgung replaced the T’aep’yonggwan in the 18th century as the guest and entertainment compound for official Chinese (Manchu by then) rep- [page 37] 
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[page 38]
resentatives sent from Beijing to the Korean court. In 1897,with the independence of Korea from China and the start of the Taehan Empire,the official exchanges of envoys and gifts between China and Korea ended, and Nambyolgung’s function stopped. The functions of the Sajik Altar were moved to this site and new altars were constructed, along with a three story wooden pagoda which remains today behind the Chosun Hotel. The pagoda served as a memorial portrait hall for King Taejo, the first king of the dynasty. 
The altars, the caretakers’ residences and all but two preparation buildings were destroyed by the Japanese for construction of the first Chosun Hotel in 1915. The last significant palace buildings of this compound other than the pagoda were demolished in the late 1970s to make way for construction of the Lotte Hotel. They had been used as souvenir shops. The pagoda and brick-and-granite gate to the pagoda compound remain today behind the Chosun Hotel.
16. Tong Myo, Temple to Kwanu, the God of War
This building is just outside the East Gate on the south side of the road leading to Shinsol-dong. The temple was built in 1600 to thank Kwanu for saving a Ming general who helped the Korean army during the Hideyoshi Invasions. It is the only Temple to Kwanu remaining in Korea. Cere-monies were held here by believers until the early 1970s on full moon nights, but they were stopped by the Korean Government as part of the restoration of the shrine. The buildings are an interesting mixture of early 17th century Chinese and Korean architecture and bear certain similarities to the Chongmyo shrines. During that restoration most of the paintings, and ceremonial swords, spears, multi-tiered ceremonial umbrellas and much wooden statuary were removed from the shrine and were not replaced. Since then they have disappeared. While visiting the shrine during these so-called restorations in 1972,I was told by several local residents that the shrine’s mudang caretaker (Shamanistic priestess) claimed that the paintings were her own,and that she took them with her when evicted from the compounds by the Korean Government. The fate of the many other missing art objects is unknown.
The ceremonial,wooden,wheel-mounted horse about four metres high, used last during the funeral of King Sunjong in 1926,was stored in the gatehouse of this shrine. It too disappeared during the restoration and its whereabouts are unknown. It is feared that it was discarded and destroyed. The front courtyard of the compound has been converted into a children’s playground. Generally, the atmosphere of mystery and dignity of the shrine is now gone. [page 39] 
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[page 40]
17. The It’aewon
This originally was a large guest house, inn, sponsored by the Choson government. It was located on the site of what is now Yongsan Boy’s High School at the south end of Huam-Dong next to the U.S. Military Base,Camp Coiner. There were originally four such free lodging houses established for the convenience of travellers to Seoul.
18. The Yukcho Ap - Six Government Departments
On either side of what is now Sejongno, the main street leading out of Kyongbok Palace in front of Kwanghwamun, the main gate to Kyongbok, were located six large compounds housing the six administrative departments of the Choson government, each headed by a secretary. These were approximately equal to the ministries in today’s Korean government. Each department was housed in its own compound divided into several courtyards, the largest of which contained the palace-scale building for the secretary’s own offices. The remaining buildings housed lower officials, clerks, servants, and records. The principal buildings were destroyed by the Japanese during the 1920s and 1930s. A few minor bits and pieces of buildings from these compounds remained into the 1980s,but were demolished to make way for new high rises.
19. Pavilions and Summer Houses
The Choson Dynasty aristocracy built many beautiful pleasure homes and pavilions outside of the city walls. One of the most popular areas was along the Han River in the area of Ichon and the southern slopes of Nam- san. Also popular were Ui Dong in the northeast, Segomjong in the northwest, and Songbuk-dong. An outstanding example of such summer homes is the Sokp’ajong, the pleasure home of the Taewongun, Regent for King Kojong,located in Segomjong. Parts of this compound still exist on the original site, while several of the fine buildings were removed to an area about 500 metres below their original location at the bottom of the Segomjong hill at Hongje-dong. These buildings were converted into a restaurant in January of 1984. It is interesting to note that one of the best known linked poems written by the Taewongun is also called “Sokp’a.”
20. Cultural Academies and Societies
Scattered throughout the city of Seoul but within the walls were cultural academies and societies serving literature, music, painting, calligraphy and other related arts. Most had their own structures varying from small converted residential buildings to entire compounds serving the more well to do retired government officials who used the the organizations as much for private clubs for old cronies as for furthering cultural activities. Virtually all of these organizations were discontinued during the Japanese occupation period and their structures demolished. [page 41]

CHOSUN GOVERNMENT COMPOUNDS OUTSIDE OF SEOUL

1. Fortress Palaces and Redoubts 一 Country Palaces
In the vicinity of Seoul, there were three important fortress country palaces, known as Haenggung, used by the king and his court: Suwon, Namhan Fortress, and Kanghwa Island. Pukhan Fortress, while militarily important to Seoul’s defences, did not have a royal residence.
Suwon, now the provincial capital of Kyonggi Province. contained the largest countryside palace. The walled city as we know it today was built during the reign of King Chongjo in the late 1700s. The spacious palace built at the east end of the walled city and the elaborate defences were constructed for three purposes: to house the king and his court while Cnongjo visited his father’s tomb,as a redoubt for the royal family and court in case Seoul was in danger of falling, and as a strategic military base for the defence of Seoul. The walls were restored during the 1970s with great accuracy and are well worth visiting.	
Namhan Fortress, with its country palace, served both as a redoubt for the king and his court and as a critical military base strategically placed for the defence of Seoul. The Choson king took refuge here during the 1636 Manchu invasion, while his son, later King Hyojong,and the crown princess fled to Kangwha to seek refuge.
Kangwha Island served as a fortress island redoubt for Korean kings during both the Koryo and Choson Dynasties. In 1231,when the Mongols invaded Korea, the then Koryo king took refuge on Kangwha.
The three fortress palaces were constructed in the same palace style described above, on a much smaller scale and without throne halls but including official function halls, royal residential suites, gardens, libraries, and courtyards to serve the other needs of the king and his court. They were occasionally used by members of the court in Seoul during times of peace for pleasurable trips out of Seoul, but more usually to escape the strife and intrigue of the Korean court ana its in-fighting.
The Suwon palace was demolished by Japanese authorities in the 1930s as "unnecessary" (according to an elderly local resident), the contents removed and the site used to build homes for Japanese residents of Suwon. There is one residential palace building in poor condition but still standing on the grounds of an elementary school near the West Gate. At the back of the school and on the other side of a police station (even closer to the West Gate) still stand the complete portrait shrine (memorial hall) built for the father of [page 42] King Chongjo. The shrine building and courtyard constitute a rare and excellent example of 18th century shrine architecture. The caretaker is a member of the Yi royal family and still resides in the official caretaker’s house on the shrine compound,teaching traditional music to local students. (See the accompanying drawing of the Suwon Palace.)
2. Local Centres of Centers Government Administration
Outside of the Seoul area the Choson royal government administered the country through local magistrates appointed by the court. The principal com-pounds administering government matters were the Haengjong Ch’ong,per- haps best translated simply as administrative center.
These centres were laid out similarly to the palaces with two official squares, one for the main gate and the other for the large main courtyard housing the magistrate’s offices. Again,the symmetry ceased with these two squares. The official residence and gardens, the guest quarters, and ancillary administrative buildings for clerks and lower officials were set off to the side and behind the main courtyard in aesthetically pleasing ways in harmony with nature and with the advice of the geomancers. The administrative center compounds were essentially small palace-like compounds serving authority and administration and then residences with gardens, pleasure pavilions,libraries,  large guest quarters, kitchens, and servants’ quarters.
None of these administrative centers survive today, except for a few isolated buildings which managed to survive as private residences when the main compounds were destroyed during the 1920s and 1930s. The Japanese military in Korea often used these compounds for housing their troops, garaging trucks and artillery or simply as storage warehouses until the buildings were so badly abused and so in need of repair that they were taken down. Again, there is no record of what happened to the libraries, furnishings, and art works from these many compounds.	
3.Educational and Scholarly Centres of Confucian Studies
One of the most important systems of structures nation-wide during the Choson period was the educational institutions, the Confucian academies, or hyanggyo and so won outside of Seoul and the haktang in Seoul. These were controlled from Songgyungwan University in Seoul and were administered bureaucratically by the central government under the Department of Diplomacy and Education,Yejo, one of the Departments located along Sejong-no in [page 43] front of Kyongbok Palace. Each compound contained a shrine hall for Confucius in addition to the classrooms.
These structures also consisted of three principle courtyards. The southern most courtyard was for the Confucian shrine housing the spirit tablets of Confucius, his Chinese successors and important Korean Confucian scholars. The next courtyard(s) to the north contained at least one lecture hall and the third residences of scholars and/or caretakers of the structures, kitchens, and storage rooms. Several of these hyanggyo can still be found today in the countryside. None of the Seoul haktang remain.
4. Pavilions
Some of the most beautifully designed architectural works of art of the Choson Dynasty are the pavilions, placed artfully in just the right spot atop a hill with a grand vista, in a quiet nook at the bend of a river, alongside a particularly interesting rock outcropping, or simply conveniently located in a town or village center. Some of the larger of these pavilions actually comprised several structures, including residences for caretakers, but the majority were relatively small, open-sided buildings, usually placed two to five meters off the ground atop granite pillars.
The construction of the pavilions was sponsored by government, local yangban, local scholars, or simply by the local common people grouping together for joint funding and construction.
These were truly pleasure pavilions where travellers could rest, scholars could discuss their latest thoughts, locals could play changgi, chess, and most importantly where common people had the opportunity to meet and discuss ideas with yangban, scholars, poets, and other creative locals and travellers. There was very little restriction on the scope of activities which could take place in these pavilions.
On the inside walls, above the doors or above the open spaces between pillars are hung wooden plaques inscribed in Chinese characters with poetry, prose descriptions of nature, thoughts on Confucian principles or any other subject of interest at the time of their composition. Usually these plaques were made by order of local officials, scholars, or yangban to commemorate a particularly eventful exchange of ideas which occurred in the pavilion which the plaque then decorates. [page 44]
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Around 1910: Crown Prince Yi-Un proceeding through the palace
for an official function, accompanied
by court eunuchs, chamberlains and the Royal Guard.

King Kojong and Crown Prince Sunjong
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Queen Min in the 1880s.
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Toksu Palace in the late 1890s: photo taken looking south from inside
the Detached Palace, currently the Supreme Court Grounds.

Court ladies out for a walk near Ky&ngbok Palace
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Buildings in black are
the only structures not
demolished by the Japanese.

PR s L=

Kwanghwamun (Gate)
Hiingnyemun (Gate)
KiimchSngyo (Bridge)
Kiinjongmun(Gate)
Kiinjongjon(Hall)
Sajongjon (Hall)
Ch’3nch’ujon(Hall)
Manch’unjon(Hall)
Kangnydngjon (Hall)

. Kyot’aejon (Hall)

- Imisan(Hill)

. Kydnghoeru (Pavilion)
. Sujongjon (Hall)

. Chagydngjon (Hall)

. Hamhwadang(Pavilion)
16.
. Konch’Snggung (Hall)
. Chibokchae (Pavilion)
19.
. Hoewdnjon (Hall)

- Hoebindang(Pavilion)
. Nuguk (House)

23.
. Naesabok (House)

. Marang (Stable)

. Yon'go (Item House)

. Tonggung(Palace)

. Changbang (House)

. Owidoch’ongbu (Hous
. Changch’ng (House)

Hyangwonjong (Pavilic

Sénwdnjon (Hall)

Irydngdae (Pavilion)

Kdnch’unmun (Gate)

. Yongch'umun (Gate)
. Sinmumun (Gate)
. Tongsipchagak

(Pavilion)

5. Sésipchagak

(Pavilion)




image7.jpeg
Map 2. Seoul





image8.jpeg
uomne ¢ dew




image1.jpeg
i//ik/i//im_,.





